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MEMBERS’ REPORT: CREATING ECONOMIC & SOCIAL VALUE 
THROUGH LEARNING 
NATURE, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES 

The members of North Hertfordshire College Further Education Corporation Board (“Group 
Board”) present their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 
2019.  Members of the Group Board, who are also Trustees of the charity, are listed on 
pages 19 and 20. 

LEGAL STATUS 

The Group Board was established under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 
purpose of operating North Hertfordshire College (NHC) and is listed in the Schedule to The 
Education (Further Education Corporations) Order 1992 (SI 1992 No. 2097).  The College is 
an exempt charity for the purposes of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. 

MISSION 

Our mission is to create economic and social value for individuals, businesses and the 
communities we serve through learning. 

OPERATING STRUCTURE 

We operate through a simple, customer-oriented, group structure under the banner of the 
Hart Learning Group.  The Group includes: 

n North Hertfordshire College (NHC): an occupationally-focussed further education 
college with campuses in Stevenage and Hitchin.  We deliver full and part-time 
programmes in sectors and occupations important to employers in our area.  We also 
deliver programmes for students who need extra support to complete their studies. 

n A wholly-owned subsidiary, Hart Learning & Development Ltd (Hart L&D): a 
learning and development business which supports organisations of all sizes to 
engage with and invest in emerging talent.  We start with our clients’ ambitions, plans 
and challenges in mind and seek to help them improve and grow.  We help our clients 
to attract and retain the talent they need – whether by working to engage young people 
about the world of work, by recruiting and training the right talent, or by providing 
opportunities for onward career progression. 

n The Hart Schools Trust Ltd: a multi-academy trust which currently sponsors a 
secondary and a primary academy, increasingly recognised for the quality of its 
teaching and learning and the strength of its personal development curriculum.  
Currently focussed on Stevenage, we are planning to increase the number of schools 
that are part of the Trust over the next five years, where we believe that our values can 
make a difference for students.  The Trust’s secondary school – the Thomas Alleyne 
Academy – was graded Good at its most recent Ofsted inspection in 2019.  We expect 
Roebuck Academy to be inspected by Ofsted in 2020. The Group sponsors the Trust, 
which is a separate legal entity (Companies House Registration Number 07791933), 
whose financial accounts are distinct from those of NHC and Hart L&D. 

n A wholly-owned subsidiary, Plaza Activity Limited (Companies House Registration 
Number 07691859), through which we operated a commercial gym franchise in 
Stevenage town centre until February 2018.  This operation has since been closed and 
will be wound up in 2019/20. 
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n NHC also has also had a 32% shareholding in Hertvec LLC - a Saudi legal entity since 
2014/15.  Hertvec LLC operated three colleges in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.  These 
colleges were handed back to the client-Colleges of Excellence during July through to 
September 2019.  NHC wrote off its initial investment in the 2014/15 accounts and has 
not since this date recognized any interest in this entity.  The onerous performance 
bond was cancelled in October 2019.  It is likely that the legal entity will be wound up 
in 2019/20.  Any distributable income will be recognized in the 2019/20 financial 
statements. 

These business units are supported by a single corporate spine providing traditional 
corporate service functions as well as strategic management support, and a quality teaching 
and learning team. 

Throughout this document, we refer to ‘the Group’ as the overarching nomenclature, using 
NHC to refer more narrowly to the work of the college within the structure described above.  

IMPLEMENTING OUR FIVE-YEAR STRATEGY 

During 2019, the Board and executive team worked together to develop a refreshed five 
year strategy which sets out our strategic goals through to 2024. For the Group, our strategic 
objectives are centred around five core themes, with students, staff, community and 
employers at its core: 

THEME 1 - A responsive, destination-focused curriculum  

Our focus is designing and delivering a curriculum that gives our students a fully rounded 
educational experience as well as making them work-ready. 

THEME 2 – Consistently exceptional teaching and learning across all areas of the 
curriculum  

We are proud of our relentless focus on developing our students through inspiring teaching, 
learning and support across all phases of their education. 

THEME 3 – Culture and people development  

Our focus is developing high performing individuals and teams, empowered to lead, innovate 
and take accountability for their work. 

THEME 4 – Strengthened financial resilience and investment in our resources and 
estate 

Building our financial resilience and strengthening our resources will ensure all our users and 
stakeholders benefit from outstanding learning environments. 

THEME 5 - local, regional and national engagement that build our reputation  

Our focus is being an engaged and influential sector leader that will foster productive 
partnerships. 

The Strategic Plan is supported by separate plans for key areas, including a financial 
recovery plan, annual quality improvement plan and an estates plan all designed to deliver 
continuous organisational improvement. 

Over the past three years, student outcomes have improved across most of our areas of 
delivery.  Our Ofsted inspection in the last quarter of 2017 judged our Overall Effectiveness 
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to be Good, with our traineeship provision and our support for learners with high needs 
judged to be Outstanding.  Our long-term ambition remains to raise our overall self-
assessment to Outstanding. 

Student satisfaction is also high; we were first in Hertfordshire and fifth in the UK for student 
satisfaction in the FE Choices 2018/19 Learner survey, with an overall student satisfaction 
rate of 91.7%.  Our Business Department is in the top 10 in the UK for outcomes, based on 
the Department for Education’s 2017/18 achievement rate data; Sport, Hair and Beauty, 
Travel and Tourism and Catering are in the top 20 in the UK.  

We have continued to make steady progress with growing and developing our 
apprenticeship and employability delivery through Hart L&D.  Although our apprenticeship 
provision has not grown as quickly as we had originally forecast, this should be seen against 
a backdrop of the introduction of the Apprenticeship Levy and subsequent national decline in 
apprenticeship starts being offered by employers.  In 2018/19, we recruited 782 
apprenticeship starts and are forecasting further modest growth to 820 starts in 2019/20. 

Both Hart Schools Trust schools (the Thomas Alleyne and Roebuck Academies) made 
further progress in 2018/19, delivering improved student progress and outcomes at key 
stages 1 and 2, and better than forecast outcomes at key stage 4 (GCSE).  Early in the 
2019/20 academic year, the Thomas Alleyne Academy was inspected by Ofsted under the 
new Education Inspection Framework (EIF) maintaining its ‘Good’ inspection judgement 
from 2015.  We anticipate that the Roebuck Academy will also be inspected by Ofsted in 
2019/20. 

We have strong relationships with national and local employers and we work with them to 
ensure that our curriculum meets their needs.  We have analysed what the current and 
future labour market demand is in the areas we serve and identified six priority sectors 
where there is the most growth potential.  We have also invested in ensuring that our 
facilities continue to meet industry standards.  For example, the Hertfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) have offered a significant capital grant towards redeveloping 
our Sports Science facilities. 

We remain committed to our goal of being recognised as a key partner for stakeholders in 
our community – working with our students, customers and stakeholders to support the 
development of the North Hertfordshire area.  In 2018/19, we began working with Stevenage 
Borough Council to support its substantial regeneration programmes, ensuring that the work 
it plans on homes, retail and leisure facilities in the town will contribute to delivering training 
and work experience opportunities as well as vocational qualifications.  We are seeking a 
partnership with the lead national skills body for construction (the Construction Industry 
Training Board (CITB) to support this. 

Ofsted praised the positive culture in the Group and our clear values which define how we 
work and enable our success.  Our values, which we refreshed in July 2019 through 
engagement with our staff, are: 

n Respect: We value the contribution that each member of our community makes.  We 
ensure that we are an inclusive, welcoming and open organisation that encourages 
and values different thinking and perspectives. 

n Ambition: We have high expectations about what we, our colleagues and our learners 
can achieve.  We are a true learning organisation that is eager to continue to improve 
and develop. 

n Professionalism: We conduct ourselves in a professional way.  We commit to 
developing our knowledge, skills and experience to better do our jobs. 
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n Inspiration: We motivate and instil a sense of belief in ourselves, our colleagues and 
our learners.  We have a strong ‘can do’ ethos and believe that enjoying what we do is 
important. 

n Integrity: We act in an open and honest way.  We see trust as central to the way that 
we work, we do what we say we will do. 

n Community: We are committed to building a community where everyone has a voice, 
feels supported and can thrive.  We are committed to being an active and responsible 
part of our local and wider communities. 

n Excellence: We strive for excellence in everything we do.  We encourage and 
challenge ourselves and each other to do the very best for our learners, colleagues 
and community. 

We recognise that our goals also require a sustainable financial foundation.  For some years 
now, the FE sector has been confronted with a particularly challenging financial picture, with 
reduced income from public sources and increased uncertainty about its future.  This has 
required the Board and the new Principal to address historic weaknesses in our financial 
position by reducing costs, stopping non-core business and loss-making ventures as well as 
significantly improving our internal reporting and management processes.  We have 
consolidated our estate, seeking to dispose of assets that were surplus to our needs and to 
tackle historic maintenance challenges. 

However, like many other colleges in the sector, in 2017/18 we struggled to meet the 
budgeted revenue targets set, a situation caused by several factors but most notably the 
significant nationwide slowdown in apprenticeship starts following the introduction of the 
Apprenticeship Levy.  Coupled with the introduction of a new Insolvency Regime for FE 
colleges and a more restrictive lending climate, the Board had to take a more prudent view 
of financial sustainability. 

In 2018/19, the Board sought and received exceptional financial support (EFS) from the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to support cash flow and enable us to 
complete our turnaround programme.  The funding came with extra scrutiny from the 
agency, which we welcomed as helping to give assurance that public funds were being 
properly spent. 

Our financial recovery plan was independently reviewed and accepted at the end of 2018 
and remains on track to deliver an underlying surplus by 2020/21.  The Board continues to 
challenge the senior management team to manage costs carefully and increase revenue 
and there are signs that this is paying off in 2019/20. 
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RESOURCES 

The Group has various resources that it can deploy in pursuit of its strategy. 

Financial 

The Group has £14.4m of net assets (including £8.746m pension liability) and £11.206m of 
external debt. 

People 

At 31 July 2019, NHC and Hart L&D employed 394 people (345.45 FTE). 

 2018/19 2017/18 

 
Teaching 

Headcount 
Non-

teaching 
Headcount 

Total Teaching 
Headcount 

Non-
teaching 

Headcount 

Total 

Total 229 165 394 186 234 420 

Total FTE 192.91 152.54 345.45 159.44 206.62 366.06 

 

Reputation 

The Group maintains a good reputation locally and nationally.  It seeks to: 

n maintain and enhance the reputation of NHC as a provider of outstanding outcomes 
for its students; 

n establish Hart L&D as a positive brand in the local and national market; 

n enhance the reputation of the Hart Schools Trust as an effective provider of education, 
with the aim of delivering from Early Years to Sixth Form as key priorities. 

Stakeholder relationships 

We have an extensive range of stakeholder and partner relationships, including: 

n Our current and prospective new students and our growing pool of alumni. 

n Employers, large and small, in Hertfordshire and – increasingly following the 
establishment of Hart L&D – nationally. 

n Our current and potential new staff both locally and – to support Hart L&D’s growth – 
nationally. 

n Community partners in North Hertfordshire. 

n The Hertfordshire LEP and LEPs in adjacent areas. 
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n Local Authorities, particularly Stevenage Borough Council, North Hertfordshire District 
Council and Hertfordshire County Council. 

n Other FE Colleges in Hertfordshire and adjacent areas e.g. Bedfordshire, London. 

n Education (ESFA, the FE Commissioner), employment (DWP, Jobcentre Plus) and 
other relevant funding bodies. 

All of these and other relationships are key to the successful delivery of our new five-year 
strategy and so we ensure that we are in regular contact with students and prospective 
students, their parents/carers and local employers.  We have well-developed relationships 
with education policy-makers, both locally and nationally, and are working to enhance links 
with local authorities and other partners. 

DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 

Financial results 

The Group generated a deficit in the year of £1.4m (2017/18: deficit £5.03m). 

The Group has accumulated reserves of £14.4m (2017/18: £18.8m). 

The Group has significant reliance on the education sector funding bodies for its principal 
funding source, largely from recurrent grants.  In 2018/19, the FE funding bodies provided 
82% (2017/18: 83%) of the Group's total income. 

In 2018/19, NHC and Hart L&D has delivered activity that has earned £19,373k from the 
funding bodies’ main allocations (£19,987k in 2017/18). 

The College had 8,175 funded students and 701 other students.  The direct delivery 
Apprenticeship provision had 754 in 2018/19. 

The college also enrolled 132 Higher Education Students, generating income of £0.54m 
through its partnership with the University of Hertfordshire, down from £1.112m in 2017/18. 

The College has two subsidiaries, Hart Learning & Development Ltd and Plaza Activity 
Limited (trading as Fit4Less).  The principal activity of Hart Learning and Development Ltd is 
the provision of training, whilst Plaza Activity Limited is not currently trading and will be fully 
wound up in 2019/20. 

In 2018/19, Hart L&D Limited generated a loss of £9,718(2017/18: £21,202) and Plaza 
Activity Limited made a loss of £121,248 (2017/18: £210,721). 

The Group has a 32% interest in Hertvec LLC, a consortium with Hertford Regional College 
and the Samama Holdings Group, a major Saudi Arabian company specialising in 
construction and facilities management, which is delivering vocational education in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.  The value of this investment was written off in 2014/15.  The 
operation in Saudi Arabia made an operating profit in 2018/19 and the Group’s liabilities 
have been minimised.  The contract came to an end as planned on 31 July 2019 and as a 
result of a change in Saudi government policy, was not renewed. 
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FUTURE PROSPECTS 

Developments 

In 2019/20, building on progress made in 2018/19, we will: 

n Keep improving the quality of our provision of all kinds – working towards our goal of 
being judged Outstanding by Ofsted. 

n Continue to build on the excellent working relationships with our new, national, client 
contracts with Hart L&D. 

n Continue to improve student progress and outcomes within the schools that make up 
the Hart Schools Trust and continue working with other schools interested in joining 
the Trust where there is mutual appetite and benefit. 

n Continue to develop and deliver a responsive curriculum across the NHC and Hart 
L&D portfolio. 

n Dispose of surplus assets and prepare detailed plans for investment in our retained 
estate. 

n Work closely with the LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership) and other stakeholders to 
increase employer engagement and curriculum development. 

n Deliver the agreed budgeted outcome for 2019/20 and continue to improve underlying 
financial health by creating a prudent level of working capital over the next five years. 

Financial plan 

In June 2019, the Board approved a financial plan covering the three years 2019/20 to 
2021/22 which had previously been independently reviewed by BDO.  BDO concluded that 
the plan was well-evidenced and stated that ‘whilst the level of assumed growth does not 
appear unreasonable, income targets are not guaranteed.’ 

Treasury policies and objectives 

Treasury management is the management of our cash flows, banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

All borrowing undertaken has been authorised by the Group Board. 

Cash flows and liquidity 

Net cash flow from operating activities was -£1,740,000 (2017/18: -£416,000). 

Reserves Policy 

The Group Board recognises the importance of managing its financial resources to ensure 
the ongoing sustainability of its activity in support of education and training, and its 
obligations to its workforce.  The Group Board currently manages its resources with this 
priority in mind and is not planning to develop material levels of unspent reserves.  This 
policy is kept under review to reflect the changing needs of its business. 

The College incurred no interest charges in respect of late payments for this period. 
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Going Concern 

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis which the directors believe 
to be appropriate for the following reasons. 

n As at 31 July 2019, the College has £5.7m of borrowing in two parts from its bankers 
(Lloyds Bank plc) on terms negotiated in March 2013 which is being repaid on a capital 
and interest basis and will be fully repaid in 2023 and 2029. 

n In addition, the College has £5.5m of borrowing from the Department for Education 
which is being repaid on an interest only basis.  This facility is due to be repaid by 
31 July 2021. 

n These facilities are currently secured on the College’s main building assets at 
Stevenage and Hitchin. 

n In addition to the loans from Lloyds Bank plc, the College’s overdraft facility (currently 
unused) remains at £1.3m. 

n The College is dependent on Government funding for the sector to support its 
operations and fund its bank loan obligations.  The bank and Department for Education 
loans have covenant conditions and the College must ensure it operates within these 
covenants in order for this financial support to continue in its current form. 

n Banking covenants are forecast to be met during the remaining lifetime of the existing 
borrowing. 

n The College exchanged contracts in October 2018 with Cala Homes for the sale of 
surplus land at the Hitchin campus the receipt from which is intended to support the 
redevelopment of existing sports facilities which are at the end of their useful life.  The 
contract is dependent upon obtaining satisfactory planning permission for a residential 
development and the re-development of College facilities.  Net profits on this disposal 
will also allow the College to repay the financial support that it has received from the 
Department for Education. 

n From February through to June 2019, restructures were carried out across all College 
sites and the savings achieved by these difficult decisions are bearing fruit in 2019/20.  
In addition, the College has significantly reduced high levels of subcontracted delivery, 
bringing more delivery in house and reducing subcontractor costs. 

The College has a clear plan to restore its operating and cash surpluses.  Though not 
without risk, the 2019/20 budget deficit of £339k is based on prudent revenue assumptions 
and cost savings the large majority of which have been secured.  The College understands 
the risks and assumptions within the plan that lead to a surplus position in 2020/21. 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

In the context of our five-year strategy, with active participation and oversight from the main 
Board and Audit Committee, SMT has continued to keep under review the key corporate 
risks to which we are exposed.  We have identified systems and procedures including 
specific preventive actions that should mitigate the potential impact of our identified risks. 

In addition to ongoing review, the Board and SMT also consider any risks that may arise as 
a result of a new area of work being undertaken. 
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The principal risks we currently face are that: 

n we are not able to maintain our target level of cash reserves. 

n we fail to dispose of surplus assets on the timescales we expect, with consequent 
implications for our cash position. 

n English & Maths achievement rates undermine overall performance across the Group. 

n we do not hit our projected business plan recruitment targets. 

n we do not continue to improve the quality of teaching and learning and outcomes 
across all provision types. 

Actions to mitigate quality and achievement risks include: regular cycle of review meetings 
including by the Quality & Innovation Committee, continuous monitoring of student 
attendance, lesson observations and work scrutinies, peer and external professional review, 
CPD for teachers and lecturers, governor learning walks and monitoring. 

Actions to mitigate financial risks include: daily, weekly and monthly monitoring of cashflow, 
and ongoing scrutiny of management accounts by the lenders and governors and quarterly 
review of loan covenants. 

Actions to mitigate the asset disposal risk include: weekly internal project team meetings and 
scrutiny by a Board committee, stakeholder engagement and advice from legal and planning 
professionals. 

Actions to mitigate the recruitment risks include: prudent target setting and continuous 
monitoring of progress against plans, targeted marketing including open days and evenings, 
on-line promotion and public relations activity, building and enhancing relationships with key 
clients and stakeholders, analysis of student satisfaction data to highlight areas for 
improvement, and a focus on student retention. 

These risks are contained within a detailed risk register; which is reviewed weekly by SMT 
and by the Audit Committee at each of its meetings, and more frequently where necessary.  
This identifies the key risks, the likelihood of those risks occurring, their potential impact on 
the Group and the actions being taken to reduce and mitigate the risks.  Risks are prioritised 
using a consistent scoring system. 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Data from the annual Finance Record for the ESFA is used to place all FE colleges in 
England in one of four financial health categories: Outstanding, Good, Requires 
Improvement (previously ‘Satisfactory’) and Inadequate.  In 2018/19, the College was placed 
in the Requires Improvement category, an improvement from 2017/18. 

 2018/19 2017/18 

Operating surplus/sector EBITDA as % of income 3.10% -9.20% 

Staff costs as % of income 62.10% 70.84% 

Operating cash flow (£‘000) £-1,740 £-416 

Cash days in hand / liquidity (adjusted current ratio) 0.721 NA 

Borrowing as % of income 47.22% 30.59% 

Reliance on ESFA income 81.63% 83.36% 

ESFA financial health rating Requires Improvement Inadequate 

 

STUDENT ACHIEVEMENTS 

The Group is committed to achieving the best outcomes for all its students and helping them 
achieve the qualifications they are studying.  Notable achievements in 2018/19 include: 

n Overall achievement rates for 16-18 and adult learners are at five-year high at 88.4%,  
which is +2.5% against both the 2017/18 rate and the national average of 85.9%. 

n Achievement rates for 16-18 year olds have improved significantly since 2017/2018 
and are now above national averages.  Overall achievement rates are at 84.4% which 
is +4% against 2017/18 and +1.6% against the national average. 

n Retention rates have increased by +3.5% since 2017/18 to 94% and are now +2.8% 
against national averages. 

n External value-added measures for level 3 programmes are positive at 0.12.  Internal 
measures show a large majority of students progress well against their starting points. 

n 87.6% of students identified a positive progression at the end of 2018/19. 

n Overall achievement for 19+ students has also remained consistently high at 90.3%, a 
statistic that makes us one of the leading providers in the country for this age group. 

n Achievement rates on Functional Skills programmes has risen significantly since 
2017/18.  Achievement rates are up by +9% to 68% - our first rise in this area for three 
years.  GCSE English rates for grades 4-9 have improved to 27.8%, which is a +3.6% 
increase and is now above the national average.  GCSE Maths rates for grades 4-9 
have not improved as fast as we would have liked and remain at 17.6% which is just 
below the national average. 

n The overall achievement rate for apprenticeships is at 59%, a decline against 2017/18.  
Due to a number of legacy issues, timely achievement rates continue to be a concern 
at 37.4%.  However, first time pass rates in the new end-point assessments are at 
90% with the majority of apprentices achieving merits and distinctions. 
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Curriculum Development 

n We continue to review our full-time courses for 16-18 year-old learners and have now 
moved the majority of the Level 2 and 3 provision over to new RQF qualifications, as a 
result of the phasing out of previous QCF equivalents. 

n Our broad range of Study Programmes support students to achieve their best and 
provide them with the behaviour, skills and knowledge they need to progress into the 
world of work, HE or further study in their chosen occupation. 

n Our curriculum framework includes an impressive range of opportunities for our students 
to become involved in Youth Social Action projects, fundraising and volunteering 
through our work with Pears Foundation and its #iwill campaign. 

n Our Supported Studies provision is ‘Outstanding’ and we are proud that we are growing 
this provision to meet increasing demand in the North Hertfordshire area.  We continue 
to iterate and develop these programmes so that each student has a bespoke offer that 
allows genuine pathways to further study, employment opportunities and/or and 
independent living.  Our Supported Internship programme is a shining light in this regard.  

n Over the last three years, with the support of the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP), we invested further in industry standard facilities for students 
studying on our Sport Science, Media and Graphics and IT departments. In 2018/19 for 
example, new additions to the portfolio include; a new Level 4 HND in Sports Science, 
the relaunch of our CISCO networking academy, Electric and Hybrid Vehicle Technology 
and a Forensic Science pathway. 

n Hart L&D continues to develop a well-defined proposition for Apprenticeship delivery 
and programme design, allowing for focussed planning of provision to meet employer 
needs.  In 2018/19, we have built on our productive relationships with a mixture of local 
SME businesses and high-profile national clients such as Co-op, Ocado and Worldpay. 

n There has been much preparation in terms of material design, course design, electronic 
tracking tools and employer engagement activities to prepare ourselves for a successful 
T-level industrial placement pilot, which we delivered to 87 full-time students in 2018/19. 

PUBLIC BENEFIT 

North Hertfordshire College is an exempt charity within the meaning of Part 3 of the 
Charities Act 2011 and is regulated by the Secretary of State for Education.  The members 
of the Group Board, who are Trustees of the charity, are disclosed on pages 19 and 20. 

In setting and reviewing the College’s strategic objectives, the Trustees have paid due 
regard to the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and particularly to its 
supplementary guidance on the advancement of education.   

The Trustees believe our mission is consistent with the guidance on providing public benefit.  
Students are drawn from the local community and provision is made to support those who 
are disadvantaged (through bursaries and grants to enable individuals to access resources 
and equipment).  In delivering this mission, the College provides the following identifiable 
public benefits through the advancement of education: 

n A diverse local, occupationally-relevant training offer, including but not limited to 
apprenticeships, for businesses of all sizes locally, regionally and nationally. 
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n Teaching, learning and assessment for young people and adults, through full-time, 
part-time and work-based courses in a wide range of sector and occupational areas. 

n Strong working relationships with local businesses, who actively support and engage 
with the courses we deliver for our students – including by providing high quality work 
experience placements. 

n Support and independent advice and guidance to help students consider and secure 
progression opportunities. 

n Wider pastoral care for students, underpinned by strong working relationships with 
relevant partner organisations across the public sector. 

The way in which we deliver such benefits is described throughout this report. 

EQUALITY 

The College is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity for all who learn and work here.  
We respect and value positively differences in race, gender including gender reassignment, 
relationship status including civil partnerships, sexual orientation, disability, religion or belief, 
and age.  We strive vigorously to remove conditions which place people at a disadvantage 
and we will actively combat bigotry.  Our Single Equality Policy is resourced, implemented 
and monitored on a planned basis and is published on our website. 

NHC publishes an Annual Equality Report and Equality Objectives to ensure compliance 
with all relevant equality legislation including the Equality Act 2010.  We undertake equality 
impact assessments on all new policies and procedures and do the same for existing 
policies and procedures on a prioritised basis. 

NHC is a ‘Positive about Disabled’ employer and has committed to the principles and 
objectives of the Positive about Disabled standard.  We consider all employment 
applications from disabled persons, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the individuals 
concerned, and guarantee an interview to any disabled applicant who meets the essential 
criteria for the post.  Where an existing employee becomes disabled, every effort is made to 
ensure that employment can continue.  Our policy is to provide training, career development 
and opportunities for promotion which, as far as possible, provide identical opportunities to 
those of non-disabled employees. 

It has also implemented an updated Equality & Diversity training programme which all staff 
have attended.  Refresher training and training for new starters is ongoing. 

DISABILITY STATEMENT 

The College seeks to achieve the objectives set down in the Equality Act 2010: 

n NHC has an Additional Learning Support (ALS) Manager who gives information, 
advice and arranges specialist support where necessary for mainstream students, 
apprentices and trainees with disabilities to enable equal access to learning. 

n NHC has a SEND Partnership Manager who works with local authorities to manage all 
statutory processes for students with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). 

n NHC has a Disabled Students Allowance (DSA) Assessment Centre and undertakes 
assessments for students progressing to Higher Education.  A comprehensive range of 
assistive technology is demonstrated for Higher Education (HE) students during the 
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course of their assessment for their DSA.  This determines the most appropriate 
equipment needed to address individual learning needs. 

n NHC makes specialist resources available for use by students.  All reasonable 
adjustments are always put in place for students whenever necessary. 

n The Admissions Policy for all students is described in the NHC prospectus and 
website.  Appeals against a decision not to offer a place are dealt with under the 
Compliments, Feedback and Complaints Policy. 

n We have invested in the appointment of specialist staff to support students with 
learning difficulties and/or disabilities.  We employ 9 permanent and 13 Agency 
Inclusion Assistants to help mainstream students with specific learning difficulties, 
sensory impairments, general learning difficulties, physical disabilities and personal 
care.  Support can be given within the classroom and in the workplace setting. 

n Springboard is specialist provision dedicated to students with Autism which is based at 
two self-contained offsite centres in Letchworth and Watford.  Within our discrete 
SEND provision (Supported Studies and Springboard) a team with a breadth of skills 
and experience enables us to fully meet the needs of all the individuals we work with, 
and ensure an outstanding student experience, as assessed by Ofsted. 

n There is a continuing programme of staff development to ensure a high level of 
appropriate support for students who have learning difficulties and/or disabilities can 
be given. 

n The College has a detailed SEND Policy which covers all students with SEND, with or 
without an EHCP.  The College is fully compliant with statutory processes regarding 
EHCP consultations and annual reviews. 

n Where students have complex learning support needs, a detailed assessment is 
undertaken and an application made for Higher Needs Funding (HNF) from the 
relevant local authority. 

n Specialist programmes are described in prospectuses and on the website; 
achievements and destinations are recorded and published in the standard NHC 
format. 

n Information about Counselling, welfare services, complaints and disciplinary 
procedures is made available to all students during induction.  Additional details can 
be found on our website, in the prospectus and leaflets. 
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TRADE UNION FACILITY TIME 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 require the 
publication of data on facility time arrangements for trade union officials at the college. 

Number of employees who were trade union officials in 2018/19 FTE employee number 

 1 

 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

1-50% 1 

 

Total cost of facility time £558.40 

Total pay bill £14,738,000 

Percentage of total bill spent on facility time 0.000% 

 

 
PAYMENT PERFORMANCE 

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, in the absence of agreement to 
the contrary, requires organizations to make payments to suppliers within 30 days of either 
the provision of goods or services or the date on which the invoice was received. 

It is the College’s policy to pay all of its suppliers on the last day of the month following the 
month of invoice, provided that the College is satisfied that the supplier has provided the 
goods or services in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. 

With effect from 1 September 2016, the target set by HM Treasury for payment to suppliers 
within 30 days is 95%.  The College’s policy has been payment by the end of the month 
following the supply of goods and services. 

During the accounting period 1 August 2018 to 31 July 2019, based on the number of 
invoices processed, the College paid 75% (2017/18: 30%) within these terms. 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

At 31 October 2019, the lease on Plaza Limited was returned to Stevenage Borough 
Council. Plaza Limited has stopped trading and will be wound up in 2019/20. 

In October 2019, the performance bonds for Hertvec LLC were cancelled removing a 
significant legacy risk from the College. 

  

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid 
facility time 

n/a 
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL 
The following statement is provided to enable readers of the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements to obtain a better understanding of the Group’s governance and legal structure.  
It covers the period from 1 August 2018 to 31 July 2019 and up to the date of approval of the 
Annual Report and Financial Statements. 

The Board recognises that, as a body entrusted with both public and private funds, it has a 
particular duty to observe the highest standards of corporate governance at all times and so 
endeavours to conduct its business in accordance with: 

n the seven principles identified by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership); 

n guidance to colleges from the Association of Colleges in The Code of Good 
Governance for English Colleges (“the Code”). 

n In carrying out its responsibilities, it takes full account of The Code of Good 
Governance for English Colleges issued by the Association of Colleges in March 2015, 
which it formally adopted on 22 June 2015. 

In the opinion of the Governors, the College complies with all the provisions of the Code, and 
it has complied throughout the year ended 31 July 2019. 

The Board subsequently considered and adopted the Senior Staff Remuneration Code 
published by the Association of Colleges in December 2018. 

NHC is an exempt charity within the meaning of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011.  The 
Governors, who are also the Trustees for the purposes of the Charities Act 2011, confirm that 
they have had due regard for the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and that 
the required statements appear elsewhere in these financial statements. 

THE GROUP BOARD 

The Board is responsible for setting policy and providing strategic direction to the business, 
and for monitoring and seeking assurance about progress and achievement. 

As a body mainly composed of independent non-executive members, it is well-placed to bring 
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, resources and standards 
of conduct.  To help it do so, the Board receives regular and timely information about 
performance including regular reports on: quality assurance and improvement; student 
attendance, retention and attainment; safeguarding; student and business feedback; financial 
performance; people-related matters and, health, safety and environmental issues. 

The Board’s main effort in 2018/19 has been on turning round the Group’s financial position 
and pushing forward with the planned disposal of surplus land to enable the redevelopment 
of its sports facilities at the Hitchin campus, which are have gone beyond the end of their 
useful life.  This has involved continuing to exit activities that do not support the core business 
and increasing efforts to improve delivery for students and apprentices.  This journey will 
continue in 2019/20. 
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Minutes of all Board meetings, except those deemed confidential by the Board, are published 
on our website.  Copies are also available from Robert Dale, Company Secretary at: 

North Hertfordshire College 
Cambridge Road 
Hitchin  SG4 0JD 

The Company Secretary maintains a register of financial and personal interests of the 
governors which is available for inspection at the above address and published on the Group 
website together with the attendance records of governors. 

All governors can take independent professional advice about their duties at the Group’s 
expense and have access to the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board for 
ensuring compliance with all applicable procedures and regulations.  The appointment, 
evaluation and removal of the Company Secretary are matters for the Board as a whole. 

Agendas, papers and reports are issued in good time before Board meetings.  Briefings are 
also given on an ad-hoc basis.  The Board has a strong and independent non-executive 
majority and no individual or group dominates decision-making.  The Board considers that 
each of its non-executive members is independent of management and free from any business 
or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent 
judgement.  Finally, there is a clear division of responsibility between the roles of the Chair of 
the Board and the Accounting Officer. 

The Board is supported by five Committees (Audit, Finance, Quality & Innovation, 
Remuneration and Search).  Each has Terms of Reference and meets as required.  
Attendance records for individual committees is reported below.  Overall attendance for the 
Board and its standing committees in 2018/19 was 83% (2017/18: 80%). 

The Board met seven times in 2018/19 and held a strategic away day.  Attendance for the 
year was 78% (2017/18: 76%). 

The members who served on the Board during the year and up to the date of signature of this 
report are listed in the table on the following pages 19 and 20. 

Name Role Appointed Term of 
office 

Resigned Board 
Meetings 
attended 

Other 
committees 
supported 

Liz Calver Staff Governor 04/09/18 4 years  6/6 
(100%) 

Quality & 
Innovation 

Lynne 
Ceeney 

Board Vice-
Chair 

20/04/191 4 years  4/7 
(57%) 

Quality & 
Innovation 
Search 

David 
Chalk 

Board Chair2 04/12/17 4 years 31/12/18 3/3 
(100%) 

Search 

Kit Davies Principal and 
Chief Executive 

20/11/17 n/a  7/7 
(100%) 

Finance 
Quality & 
Innovation 

 
1 Reappointed for a second term. 
2 Until 31 December 2019. 
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Paul 
Holgate 

Safeguarding 
Governor 

10/12/14 4 years 31/08/18 0/0 
(n/a) 

Audit 

Robert 
Irving 

 07/09/15 4 years 31/08/18 0/0  
(n/a) 

Quality & 
Innovation 
Remuneration 

Peter 
Johnston 

Remuneration 
Chair 

01/03/16 4 years  6/7  
(86%) 

Search 

Daniel King Student 
Governor 

01/10/18 1 year 31/07/19 4/5 
(80%) 

Quality & 
Innovation 

Niamh 
Krishman 

Student 
Governor 

21/10/19 2 years  0/0 
(n/a) 

Quality & 
Innovation 

Geoff 
Lambert 

Audit Chair  01/08/19 4 years  0/0 
(n/a) 

 

Daniel 
Malyon 

 12/09/18 4 years  1/6 
(17%) 

Audit 
Remuneration 

Vernon 
McClure 

Quality & 
Innovation Chair 

04/12/183 4 years  6/7 
(86%) 

Audit 
Search 

Elizabeth 
Mitchell 

 12/09/18 4 years  4/6 
(67%) 

Quality & 
Innovation 

Philip 
Moore 

 01/09/19 4 years  0/0 
(n/a) 

Audit 

Jeremy 
Newman 

Audit Chair 01/03/16 4 years 31/12/19 2/3 
(67%) 

Remuneration 

Richard 
Palmer 

 01/09/17 4 years 31/08/18 0/0 
(n/a) 

Quality & 
Innovation 

Jacky Price Safeguarding 
Governor (from 
01/09/19) 

21/03/19 4 years  3/3 
(100%) 

 

Andrew 
Simmons 

Board Chair4 
Chair, Hart 
Schools Trust 
Finance Chair 
(to 31/07/19) 

01/04/17 4 years  6/7 
(86%) 

Search 

David Stern Finance Chair 
(from 01/08/19) 

26/11/18 4 years  4/5 
(80%) 

Audit 

Jack 
Tomlinson 

Safeguarding 
Governor (from 
01/09/18)  

06/09/17 4 years 31/05/19 5/6 
(83%) 

Quality & 
Innovation 

Robert Dale GradICSA acted as Company Secretary from 1 August 2018 until 31 July 2019. 

 
3 Reappointed for a second term. 
4 From 4 February 2019. 
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APPOINTMENTS TO THE BOARD 

Any new appointments to the Board are a matter for consideration by the Board as a whole.  
The Board has a Search Committee comprising up to five members responsible for selecting 
candidates for the Board’s consideration.  The Board is responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate training is provided for Governors. 

David Chalk (Group Financial Risk Director, Lloyds Banking Group), served as Chair from 
December 2017 to December 2018.  He stepped down having identified a potential conflict 
of interest with his role at Lloyds Banking Group.  Andrew Simmons, then a member of the 
Board, was appointed to the Chair on 4 February 2019. 

Six other members stepped down during the year for personal or work-related reasons (Paul 
Holgate, Rob Irving, Daniel King, Jeremy Newman, Richard Palmer and Jack Tomlinson). 

Two members were re-appointed following successful first terms.  These were: 

n Lynne Ceeney 

n Vernon McClure 

Six other appointments were made to the Board during the year ended 31 July 2019 following 
interview by the Search Committee and/or election as Student or Staff Governor.  These were: 

n Liz Calver, elected as staff governor as a result of a contested election. 

n Daniel King, elected Student Governor by the student body. 

n Daniel Malyon (Head of Facilities Management, Sainsbury). 

n Elizabeth Mitchell (Vice President, R&D Pipeline Delivery, GSK). 

n Jacky Price (Principal Lecturer, University of Hertfordshire and clinical lead for the 
Advanced Practice pathway in nursing). 

n David Stern (a forensic accountant and Partner, StoneTurn UK LLP). 

Two further appointments of members with financial qualifications and/or experience were 
made for the start of the academic year 2019/20.  These were: 

n Geoff Lambert 

n Philip Moore 

An election for the student governor role in 2019/20 took place in October 2019 and the 
following member was elected: 

n Niamh Krishman 

With the exception of the Student Member, Members of the Board are appointed for a term of 
office not exceeding four years but are eligible for re-appointment. 
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BOARD PERFORMANCE 

Consistent with UK Corporate Governance Code best practice, the Board engaged with an 
externally-facilitated review of board effectiveness in May 2016.  The review concluded that 
the Board was strong, independent and had a good variety of relevant skills and experiences 
to enable it to fulfil its role. 

Since then, a skills audit has been undertaken, as has a review of overall performance through 
a discussion at the Board’s strategic thinking day on 28 June 2019.  Judged against the 
Ofsted criteria and the Ten Characteristics of Effective Colleges and having recruited 
additional members with financial qualifications and/or experience, the Board concluded 
that it had a broad base of relevant skills and experience.  It sought to develop its 
understanding of and engagement with the curriculum including more discussions about 
education quality and the student experience at Board meetings.  It wished to enhance its 
consideration of well-being and staff development and workload.  It felt confident in 
challenging the executive and in its capacity to hold the Chief Executive to account. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee advises the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of 
internal control and its arrangements for risk management, control and governance 
processes by monitoring the Corporate Risk Register, considering and challenging reports 
from staff and from internal and external auditors and by examining financial and other 
benchmarking data and any other relevant information. 

It also advises the Board on the appointment of internal and financial statements auditors 
and their remuneration for both audit and non-audit work as well as reporting annually to the 
Board.  It is made up of five non-executive members of the Board (neither the Chair nor 
Accounting Officer are members) and it operates in accordance with written terms of 
reference approved by the Committee and the Board. 

It meets at least termly and provides a forum for reporting by the internal and financial 
statements auditors, who have access to the Committee for independent discussion, without 
the presence of management.  The Committee also receives and considers reports from the 
main FE funding bodies as they affect the Group’s business.  It considers reports about 
cases of whistleblowing and any reports of fraud. 

Internal auditors review the systems of internal control, risk management controls and 
governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan and report their findings to 
management and the Audit Committee.  Management is responsible for the implementation 
of agreed recommendations; internal audit undertake periodic follow-up reviews to ensure 
recommendations have been implemented. The Committee met four times in 2018/19. 
Attendance for the year was 83% (2017/18: 91%). 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 

A Finance Committee was established in 2018 and met for the first time on 29 November 
2018.  The Committee is chaired by a non-executive Board member and includes two more 
non-executive members, the CEO/Principal and Group Finance Director.  Its role is to 
scrutinise financial plans and assumptions, to monitor cash flow and working capital and 
provide the Board with additional assurance about the financial sustainability of the 
organisation. 

The Committee met eight times in 2018/19.  Attendance for the year was 97%. 
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QUALITY AND INNOVATION COMMITTEE 

The Quality and Innovation Committee is made up of five non-executive members of the 
Board, together with the Principal and two Executive Directors. 

The Committee operates in accordance with written terms of reference approved by the 
Committee and the Board and is responsible for reviewing the shape and structure of the 
curriculum, NHC and Hart L&D’s quality assurance practices and the impact of its work to 
raise teaching and learning standards. 

The Committee met seven times in 2018/19.  Attendance for the year was 83% (2017/18: 
80%). 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

The Remuneration Committee is made up of four non-executive members of the Board and is 
responsible for approving reward arrangements for the Accounting Officer, for determining 
whether or not conditions for the receipt of performance-related pay by the Accounting Officer 
have been met, and for considering the affordability and balance of annual reward proposals 
for the organisation as a whole. 

In 2018/19, the Committee reviewed awards for all staff meeting or exceeding expectations, 
and small number of proposed performance payments, taking particular notice of affordability 
and value for money.  The Committee also reviewed the Association of Colleges’ proposed 
senior staff remuneration code and recommended that the Board adopted it. 

Details of remuneration for the year ended 31 July 2019 are set out in Note 6 to the financial 
statements. 

The Committee met once in 2018/19.  Attendance for the year was 100% (2017/18: 78%). 

SEARCH COMMITTEE 

The Search Committee is made up of four non-executive members of the Board and is 
responsible for making recommendations to the Board in respect of governor appointments, 
and approving processes for reviewing individual and collective effectiveness. 

The Committee did not meet in 2018/19 although members participated in considering and 
interviewing candidates for Board and committee appointments as described above. 

INTERNAL CONTROL 
SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

The Board is ultimately responsible for the system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness.  However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board has delegated to the CEO, as Accounting Officer, day-to-day responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of the Group’s 
policies, aims and objectives whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which he is 
personally responsible, in accordance with responsibilities assigned to him in the Financial 
Memorandum between NHC, Hart L&D and funding bodies.  He is also responsible for 
reporting any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control to the Board. 
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THE PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal control is 
based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of Group policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically.  The system of internal control has been in place for the whole of the year ended 
31 July 2018 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. 

CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK 

The Board has reviewed key risks to which the Group is exposed together with the operating, 
financial and compliance controls that mitigate them.  The Board is of the view that there is a 
formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Group's significant risks 
that has been in place for the period ending 31 July 2019 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts.  This process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 

THE RISK AND CONTROL FRAMEWORK 

The system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information, 
administration procedures, including the segregation of duties, and a system of delegation 
and accountability.  In particular, it includes: 

n A robust approach to setting revenue and cost budgets for the forthcoming year, with 
final budgets agreed by Board. 

n Ten Finance Committee meetings in a year, which consider monthly management 
accounts and identify risks and opportunities. 

n Regular finance reports at Board meetings, detailing year-to-date performance, and 
forecast outturn for the year plus any upside opportunities and downside risks. 

n A link between finance and individual performance management, with clear finance 
objectives embedded in individual budget holders’ personal objectives for the year. 

n The increased deployment of formal project management approaches. 

n Clearly defined capital investment guidance and controls. 

We have an internal audit service (delivered by RSM UK Audit LLP) working in accordance 
with the requirements of the ESFA’s Post 16 Audit Code of Practice.  The work of the internal 
audit service is informed by an analysis of the risks to which the Group is exposed and annual 
internal audit plans are based on this analysis.  The analysis of risks and the internal audit 
plans are endorsed by the Board on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. 

As a minimum, the Internal Audit service provides the Board with an annual report on internal 
audit activity in NHC and Hart L&D.  This includes an independent opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the system of risk management, controls and governance processes.  In 
2018/19, RSM UK Audit LLP reported that the Group has “an adequate and effective 
framework for risk management, governance and internal control”.  It added that “our work 
has identified further enhancements to the framework for risk management, governance and 
internal control to ensure that it remains adequate and effective”. 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEMBERS OF 
THE GROUP BOARD 
The members of the Group Board, as charity trustees, are required to present audited financial 
statements for each financial year. 

Within the terms and conditions of the College’s Funding Agreement with the ESFA, the Group 
Board, through its Accounting Officer, is required to prepare financial statements and an 
operating and financial review for each financial year in accordance with the 2015 Statement 
of Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education and with the 
College Accounts Direction 2018 to 2019 issued by the ESFA and UK’s Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice and will give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
parent College and the result for that year. 

In preparing the Group and parent College financial statements, the Group Board is required 
to: 

n select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

n make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

n state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

n assess the Group and parent College’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and 

n use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the parent College or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so. 

The Group Board is also required to prepare a Members’ Report which describes what it is 
trying to do and how it is going about it, including information about the legal and administrative 
status of the Group. 

The Group Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Group parent College, and which 
enable it to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the relevant 
legislation of incorporation and other relevant accounting standards.  It is responsible for such 
internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for taking steps 
that are reasonably open to it in order to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The maintenance and integrity of the College website is the responsibility of the Group Board 
of the College; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these 
matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.  
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Members of the Group Board are responsible for ensuring that expenditure and income are 
applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and that the financial transactions conform 
to the authorities that govern them.  In addition, they are responsible for ensuring that funds 
from the ESFA are used only in accordance with the Funding Agreement with the ESFA and 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GROUP BOARD 
OF NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE COLLEGE 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of North Hertfordshire College (the ‘parent college’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ’group’) for the year ended 31 July 2019 which comprise the group 
and parent college statements of comprehensive income and expenditure, the group and 
parent college statements of changes in reserves and balance sheets, the group statement of 
cash flows and the notes to the financial statements. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent college’s affairs as at 31 
July 2019 and of the group’s and the parent college’s deficit of income over expenditure for 
the year then ended; and 

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where: 

n the Corporation’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of 
the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

n the Corporation has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the group’s and the parent college’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

Other information 

The Group Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
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and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Post 16 
Code of Practice issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion: 

proper accounting records have not been kept by the parent college; or 

the parent college financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of the Group Board 

As explained more fully in the statement of responsibilities of members of the Group Board, 
the Group Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Group Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Group Board is responsible for assessing the group’s 
and the parent college’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Group Board either intends to liquidate the group or the parent college or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON REGULARITY TO 
THE GROUP BOARD OF NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE COLLEGE 
AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR EDUCATION ACTING 
THROUGH THE EDUCATION AND SKILLS FUNDING AGENCY  
In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 18 June 2019 and further to the 
requirements of the financial memorandum with the Education and Skills Funding Agency, 
we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has 
come to our attention that would suggest that, in all material respects, the expenditure 
disbursed and income received by North Hertfordshire College during the period 1 August 
2018 to 31 July 2019 have not been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the 
financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 

The framework that has been applied is set out in the Post-16 Audit Code of Practice (“the 
Code”) issued by the Department.  In line with this framework, our work has specifically not 
considered income received from the main funding grants generated through the 
Individualised Learner Record (ILR) returns, for which the Department has other assurance 
arrangements in place. 

This report is made solely to the Group Board of North Hertfordshire College and the 
Department in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter.  Our work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Group Board of North Hertfordshire College and the 
Department those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Group Board of North Hertfordshire College and the Department for our work, 
for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of North Hertfordshire College and the reporting 
accountant 

The Group Board of North Hertfordshire College is responsible, under the requirements of 
the Further & Higher Education Act 1992, subsequent legislation and related regulations and 
guidance, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our 
profession’s ethical guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance 
with our engagement letter and the requirements of the Code.  We report to you whether 
anything has come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all 
material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 August 
2018 to 31 July 2019 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament of that the 
financial transactions do not conform to the authorities that govern them. 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Code issued by the Department.  We 
performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in that framework. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain 
information and explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to 
express a negative conclusion on regularity. 





 

 34 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
AND EXPENDITURE 
 

 

INCOME Note
Group College Group College
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Funding body grants 2 19,373 19,373 19,987 19,987
Tuition fees and education 3 1,418 1,418 1,986 1,986
Other grants and contracts 4 127 127 93 93
Other income 5 2,814 2,802 1,837 1,664
Total Income 23,732 23,720 23,903 23,730

EXPENDITURE

Staff costs 6 14,738 14,794 16,932 16,965
Restructuring cost 208 208 - -
Other operating expenses 7 8,050 8,651 9,166 8,777
Depreciation 9 1,786 1,770 1,702 1,683
Interest and other finance costs 8 357        351 423        409 
Total Expenditure 25,139 25,774 28,223 27,834

Surplus/(deficit) before other gains and 
losses

(1,407) (2,054) (4,320) (4,104)

(Loss)/profit on disposal of assets - - (713) (713)
Deficit before tax (1,407) (2,054) (5,033) (4,817)
Taxation -  -             -             - 
Surplus for the year (1,407) (2,054) (5,033) (4,817)
Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pensions 
schemes

18 (3,078) (3,078) 4,029      4,029 

Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the 
year

(4,485) (5,132) (1,004) (788)

Represented by:
Unrestricted comprehensive expenditure for 
the Group and College (4,485) (5,132) (1,004) (788)

Year ended
31-Jul-19

Year ended
31-Jul-18



 

NHC Report and financial statements 31 July 2019 

 

35 

CONSOLIDATED AND COLLEGE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
RESERVES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Group

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Restated Balance at 1 August 2017 25,395 2,686 (8,228) 19,853

Deficit from the income and expenditure account (4,152) - (881) (5,033)

Actuarial gains in respect of pension scheme - - 4,029 4,029
Comprehensive income/(expenditure) for the 
year (4,152) - 3,148 (1,004)

Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserves

- - - -

Total comprehensive income/(expenditure) 
for the year (4,152) - 3,148 (1,004)

Balance at 31 July 2018 21,243 2,686 (5,080) 18,849

Deficit from the income and expenditure account (819) - (588) (1,407)

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme - - (3,078) (3,078)
Comprehensive expenditure for the year (819) (3,666) (4,485)
Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserves - - - -
Total comprehensive expenditure for the 
year (819) - (3,666) (4,485)

Balance at 31 July 2019 20,424 2,686 (8,746) 14,364

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Revaluation 
reserve

Pension 
reserve Total



 

 36 

CONSOLIDATED AND COLLEGE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

College
Income and 
expenditure 

account

Revaluation 
reserve

Pension 
reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 August 2017 25,882 2,686 (8,228) 20,340

Deficit from the income and expenditure account (3,936) - (881) (4,817)

Actuarial gain in respect of pension scheme - - 4,029 4,029
Comprehensive income/(expenditure) for 
the year (3,936) - 3,148 (788)

Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserves - - - -
Total comprehensive Income/( expenditure) 
for the year (3,936) - 3,148 (788)

Balance at 31 July 2018 21,946 2,686 (5,080) 19,552
Surplus/(deficit) from the income and 
expenditure account (1,466) - (588) (2,054)

Actuarial loss  in respect of pension scheme - - (3,078) (3,078)
Comprehensive expenditure for the year (1,466) - (3,666) (5,132)
Transfers between revaluation and income and 
expenditure reserves

- - - -

Total comprehensive expenditure for the 
year (1,466) - (3,666) (5,132)

Balance at 31 July 2019 20,480 2,686 (8,746) 14,420
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

 

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Deficit for the year (1,407) (5,033)

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 1,786 1,702
Decrease/(increase) in debtors (82) (53)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors due within one year (2,612) 1,838
Pensions costs less contributions payable 440 650
Deferred capital grants released to profit and loss (222) (656)

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Interest payable 357 423
Profit on sale of fixed assets - 713
Net cash flow from operating activities (1,740) (416)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments made to acquire fixed assets (533) (1,250)
Capital grants received/(repaid) - 95
Proceeds from fixed asset sales - 1,326

(533) 171
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (209) (192)
New secured loans 5,500 -
Repayments of amounts borrowed (605) (500)

4,686 (692)

Increase/(decrease)in cash and cash equivalents in the year 2,413 (937)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 34 971
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 2,447 34
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which 
are considered material in relation to the financial statements. 
Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015 (the 2015 FE 
HE SORP), the College Accounts Direction for 2018/19 and in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 – “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United 
Kingdom and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102).  The College is a public benefit entity and has 
therefore applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS 102. 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in 
applying the College's accounting policies. 
Basis of accounting 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention as 
modified by the use of previous valuations as deemed cost at transition for certain non-
current assets. 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the College and its subsidiaries, Hart Learning 
and Development Ltd (formerly Protech Training Services Limited) and Plaza Activity 
Limited, both of which are controlled by the Group. Control is achieved where the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are 
included in the consolidated income and expenditure account from the date of acquisition or 
up to the date of disposal.  Intra-group sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation. 

In accordance with FRS 102, the activities of the student union have not been consolidated 
because the College does not control those activities. 

All financial statements are made up to 31 July 2019. 

Going concern  

The activities of the College, together with the factors likely to affect its future development 
and performance are set out in the Members Report.  The financial position of the College, 
its cash flow, liquidity and borrowings are presented in the Financial Statements and 
accompanying Notes. 

The College currently has £5.7m of loans outstanding with bankers on terms negotiated in 
March 2013.  During the year, the College also availed itself of a loan of £5.5m from ESFA.  
Both these borrowings are secured on the College’s assets. 

The College is dependent on Government funding for the sector to support its operations 
and fund its bank loan obligations.  The bank loans have covenant conditions and the 
College must ensure it operates within these covenants in order for this financial support to 
continue in its current form. 
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The College’s forecasts and financial projections, including the sale of surplus property, 
indicate that it will be able to operate within this existing facility and covenants for the 
foreseeable future. 

Accordingly, the College has a reasonable expectation that it has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and for this reason will continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of its Financial Statements. 

Recognition of income  

Government revenue grants include funding body recurrent grants and other grants and are 
accounted for under the accrual model as permitted by FRS 102. Funding body recurrent 
grants are measured in line with best estimates for the period of what is receivable and 
depend on the particular income stream involved. Any under or over achievement for the 
Adult Skills Budget is adjusted for and reflected in the level of recurrent grant recognised in 
the income and expenditure account. The final grant income is normally determined with the 
conclusion of the year end reconciliation process with the funding body following the year 
end, and the results of any funding audits.  16-18 learner-responsive funding is not normally 
subject to reconciliation and is therefore not subject to contract adjustments. 

The recurrent grant from OFS represents the funding allocations attributable to the current 
financial year and is credited direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Grants (including research grants) from non-government sources are recognised in income 
when the College is entitled to the income and performance related conditions have been 
met. Income received in advance of performance related conditions being met is recognised 
as deferred income within creditors on the balance sheet and released to income as the 
conditions are met. 

Government capital grants are capitalised, held as deferred income and recognised in 
income over the expected useful life of the asset, under the accrual method as permitted by 
FRS 102. Other capital grants are recognised in income when the College is entitled to the 
funds subject to any performance related conditions being met. 

Income from tuition fees and education contracts is stated gross of any expenditure which is 
not a discount and is recognised in the period for which it is received. 

Donated facilities are recognised as income when the College has control over the item, any 
conditions associated with the donated item have been met, the receipt of economic benefit 
from the use by the College of the item is probable and that economic benefit can be 
measured reliably.  

Other income is recognised when the College has entitlement to the funds, any performance 
conditions attached to the item(s) of income have been met, it is probable that the income 
will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. 

All income from short-term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the 
period in which it is earned on a receivable basis. 

Accounting for post-employment benefits 

Post-employment benefits to employees of the College are principally provided by the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
These are defined benefit plans, which are externally funded and contracted out of the State 
Second Pension.  
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The TPS is an unfunded scheme. Contributions to the TPS are calculated so as to spread 
the cost of pensions over employees’ working lives with the College in such a way that the 
pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. 
The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of valuations using a 
prospective benefit method. The TPS is a multi-employer scheme and the College is unable 
to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution plan and the 
contributions recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during which 
services are rendered by employees. 

The LGPS is a funded scheme. The assets of the LGPS are measured using closing fair 
values. LGPS liabilities are measured using the projected unit credit method and discounted 
at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency 
to the liabilities.  The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at 
each balance sheet date.  The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service 
costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. 
They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability is also recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure and 
comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the 
scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the 
beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference 
between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme 
assets is recognised in interest and finance cost.   

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive income. 

Short term employment benefits 

Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) 
are recognised as an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the 
College. Any unused benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the 
College expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement. 

Non-current Assets - Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Certain items of fixed assets that had been revalued to fair 
value on or prior to the date of transition to the 2015 FE HE SORP, are measured on the 
basis of deemed cost, being the revalued amount at the date of that revaluation. 
Depreciation charges to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
commence in the year following acquisition. 

Land and buildings 

Freehold buildings are depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives as 
follows: 

n 50 years 

n Refurbishments – Over the remaining life of the asset (of up to 50 years). 

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an infinite useful life.  
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Where land and buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are capitalised 
and depreciated as above. The related grants are credited to a deferred income account 
within creditors, and are released to the income and expenditure account over the expected 
useful economic life of the related asset on a systematic basis consistent with the 
depreciation policy. The deferred income is allocated between creditors due within one year 
and those due after more than one year. 

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. 

Assets under construction  

Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ 
certificates and other direct costs, incurred to 31 July.  They are not depreciated until they 
are brought into use.  

Subsequent expenditure on existing fixed assets 

Where significant expenditure is incurred on tangible fixed assets after initial purchase it is 
charged to income in the period it is incurred, unless it increases the future benefits to the 
College, in which case it is capitalised and depreciated on the relevant basis. 

Equipment 

Equipment costing less than £2,000 per individual item is recognised as expenditure in the 
period of acquisition.  All other equipment is capitalised at cost. 

Capitalised equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful 
economic life ranging between 3 to 10 years. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in which they are incurred.  
Leased assets 

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. Any lease premiums or 
incentives relating to leases signed after 1 August 2014 are spread over the minimum lease 
term.  The College has taken advantage of the transitional exemptions in FRS 102 and has 
retained the policy of spreading lease premiums and incentives to the date of the first market 
rent review for leases signed before 1 August 2014. 

Leasing agreements which transfer to the College substantially all the benefits and risks of 
ownership of an asset are treated as finance leases.  

Assets held under finance leases are recognised initially at the fair value of the leased asset 
(or, if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments) at the inception of the lease. 
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease 
obligation. Assets held under finance leases are included in tangible fixed assets, 
depreciated, and assessed for impairment losses in the same way as owned assets. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of 
the outstanding liability. The finance charges are allocated over the period of the lease in 
proportion to the capital element outstanding. 
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INVESTMENTS 

Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment in the individual 
financial statements. 
NHC’s 32% shareholding in Hertvec LLC has not been recognised in the 2018/19 accounts.  
The investment in this entity was fully written off in 2014/15.  The entity ceased running three 
colleges in Saudi and they were handed back to the Colleges of Excellence from July to 
September 2019.  Any distributable income will be recognised by NHC in the 2019/20 
statutory accounts. 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. 

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. An investment qualifies as 
a cash equivalent when it has maturity of 3 months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Financial liabilities and equity 

Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial 
instrument’s contractual obligations, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form. 
All loans, investments and short term deposits held by the Group are classified as basic 
financial instruments in accordance with FRS 102. These instruments are initially recorded 
at the transaction price less any transaction costs (historical cost). FRS 102 requires that 
basic financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost. However the 
Group has calculated that the difference between the historical cost and amortised cost 
basis is not material and so these financial instruments are stated on the balance sheet at 
historical cost. Loans and investments that are payable or receivable within one year are not 
discounted. 
Foreign currency translation 

The Group financial statements are presented in pounds sterling. The Company’s functional 
and presentational currency is pounds sterling. 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction and non-monetary measured at fair-value are measured using the 
exchange rate when fair-value was determined. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from 
the translation at period-end of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.   
TAXATION 

The College is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 
2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax 
purposes.  Accordingly, the College is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income 
or capital gains received within categories covered by sections 478-488 of the Corporation 
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Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent 
that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.  
The College and subsidiaries are partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, so that it 
can only recover approximately 1.3% of the VAT charged on its inputs.  Irrecoverable VAT 
on inputs is included in the costs of such inputs and added to the cost of tangible fixed 
assets as appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible fixed assets by nature.  
The College’s subsidiary companies are subject to corporation tax and VAT in the same way 
as any commercial organisation. 
PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required 
to settle the obligation is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate.  The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of comprehensive 
income and expenditure in the period it arises. 

A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the College a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the College.  Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements. 

AGENCY ARRANGEMENTS 

The College acts as an agent in the collection and payment of discretionary support funds. 
Related payments received from the funding bodies and subsequent disbursements to 
students are excluded from the income and expenditure of the College where the College is 
exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the transaction. 

JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

In preparing these financial statements, management have made the following judgements: 
n Determine whether leases entered into by the College either as a lessor or a lessee 

are operating or finance leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of 
whether the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred from the lessor to 
the lessee on a lease by lease basis. 

n Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the group’s tangible assets, 
including goodwill. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include 
the economic viability and expected future financial performance of the asset and 
where it is a component of a larger cash-generating unit, the viability and expected 
future performance of that unit. 

n Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the group’s investments and 
any potential liability to meet future operating expenses. 
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OTHER KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

Tangible fixed assets 

n Tangible fixed assets, other than investment properties, are depreciated over their 
useful lives taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of 
the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a 
number of factors. In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation 
and maintenance programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments 
consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset and 
projected disposal values. 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

n The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability 
depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 
variety of assumptions.  The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) 
for pensions include the discount rate.  Any changes in these assumptions, which are 
disclosed in note 18, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability.  

n Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial 
valuation performed at 31 March 2016 has been used by the actuary in valuing the 
pensions liability at 31 July 2019.  Any differences between the figures derived from 
the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying 
amount of the pension liability. 
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2 Funding body grants 

 

 

3 Tuition fees and education contracts 

 

4 Other grants and contracts 

 

  

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £'000

Recurrent grants
Education and Skills Funding Agency – main 
funding body

   17,263    17,263    15,741    15,741 

Specific grants
Employer responsive  -  -      1,851      1,851 
Releases of government capital grants          97          97        486        486 
Learning Difficulties and Disabilities      1,740      1,740      1,737      1,737 
Workplace learning centre - - (28) (28)
Other grants        273        273        200        200 
Total    19,373    19,373    19,987    19,987 

Year ended
31-Jul-19

Year ended
31-Jul-18

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Total tuition fees (UK Further Education 
students)        708        708        837        837 

Higher Education (HE) income          81          81      1,112      1,112 
Local Education Authority        629        629          37          37 
Total      1,418      1,418 1,986 1,986

Year ended Year ended
31-Jul-19 31-Jul-18

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Other grants and contracts 127 127 93 93
Total 127 127 93 93

Year ended Year ended
31-Jul-19 31-Jul-18
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5 Other income 

 

6 Staff costs 

Remuneration policy is overseen by a Remuneration Committee made up of three Board 
members (not including staff or student governors, or the CEO/Principal). 

The Committee has delegated authority to approve reward arrangements for the 
CEO/Principal and other senior post holders including agreeing and monitoring performance 
targets and objectives.  The Committee provides advice to the CEO/Principal in respect of 
pay proposals for the workforce as a whole.  Members of the Committee in 2018/19 were: 

n Peter Johnston (Chair) 

n Rob Irving (resigned 31 August 2018) 

n Danny Malyon (appointed 1 May 2019) 

n Liz Mitchell (appointed 1 May 2019) 

n Jeremy Newman (resigned 31 December 2018) 

n David Chalk (resigned 31 December 2018). 

During the year, the Committee considered and recommended that the Board adopt the 
AoC’s Senior Staff Remuneration Code and advised the CEO on staff remuneration 
proposals which took into account the financial position of the college and the views of the 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA).  The Committee also advised the CEO about 
the payment of bonuses in respect of performance considering affordability and contractual 
obligations.  The Committee considered the CEO’s performance review for 2017/18 and 
draft performance objectives for 2018/19. 

The Group operates within tight financial constraints but in order to deliver the education and 
training outcomes that are its objectives, it must attract, retain and motivate excellent 
teaching and support staff.  The Group’s remuneration principles restated by the Committee 
in November 2017 are that: 

n Remuneration should be linked to the achievement of objectives, with performance 
assessed through evidence-based appraisal, using a range of inputs including (for 
example) 360-degree feedback. 

n Remuneration should be competitive within the relevant marketplace, and increases 
should reflect improved performance. 

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Catering and residences 265 265 280 269
Other income generating activities 2,549 2,537 1,557 1,395
Total 2,814 2,802 1,837 1,664

Year ended Year ended
31-Jul-19 31-Jul-18
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n Periodic benchmarking should be carried out to ensure that reward was in line with 
sector conditions and remained affordable. 

The same principles apply to reward proposals for Senior Post-holders, where performance 
objectives aim to reflect organisational performance as well as performance in the post-
holders’ areas of accountability. 

Benchmarking is carried out with colleges of a similar size by turnover using such data as is 
available from the College finance record, the AoC senior Staff Pay Survey and our own 
research and (where relevant and necessary) commissioned guidance from third party 
professional consultants. 

The Group has adopted a Performance Development and Review process undertaken 
annually that enables managers to review the performance of individuals against agreed 
objectives.  This applies to all staff including senior post-holders. 

Staff performing at expected or better levels qualify for an uplift to their basic pay.  Staff that 
do not reach expected levels of performance do not receive pay progression. 

There are some individual (legacy) agreements that provide for non-consolidated 
performance bonuses for exceptional performance.  These are assessed against agreed 
performance objectives each year.  Senior post-holders (the CEO/Principal and the Group 
Finance Director) have separate non-consolidated performance bonus arrangements, also 
assessed against agreed performance objectives each year, and in their case subject to 
approval by the Remuneration Committee. 

The Group offers access to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (for teaching staff) and a lower 
cost defined contribution scheme (NEST) for non-teaching staff.  These options are also 
available to senior post-holders. 

 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the College and are represented by the 
College Leadership Team which comprises the Principal & CEO, Director of Hart Learning & 

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed 
by the College during the year, described as full-time equivalents, was:

2019 2018
No. No.

Teaching staff 212 196
Non-teaching staff 159 201

371 397
Staff costs for the above persons

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries    10,963    12,294 
Social security costs      1,055      1,158 
Other pension costs      1,637      1,916 
Payroll sub total    13,655    15,368 
Contracted out staffing services      1,083      1,564 
Total staff costs    14,738    16,932 
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Development, Chief Operating Officer, Director of Corporate Services, Executive Director – 
Quality, Curriculum and Organizational Development (from 1 November 2018) and Group 
Finance Director. 

 

Emoluments of Key management personnel, Accounting Officer and other higher paid staff 

The number of key management personnel and other staff who received annual 
emoluments, excluding employer contributions to national insurance and pensions but 
including benefits in kind, in the following ranges was: 
 

 
 
Key management personnel emoluments comprise the following: 
 
     2019  2018 

 £’000  £’000 
Salaries 541  586 
Employers National Insurance 66  64 
Benefits in kind 4  5 

 611  655 
Pension contributions 70  66 
Total emoluments 681  721 

 
There were no amounts due to Key Management Personnel that were waived in the year, 
nor any salary sacrifice arrangements in place. The above emoluments include the amounts 
payable to the Accounting Officer (who was the highest paid member of staff).   
  

No. No.
The number of key management personnel including the Accounting Officer 
during the year was: 6 5

2019 2018 2019 2018
No. No. No. No.

£60,001 to £65,000 p.a. 1 - 2 1

£65,001 to £70,000 p.a. 2 - - -

£70,001 to £75,000 p.a. - 1 2 2

£75,001 to £80,000 p.a. - - 1 1

£90,001 to £95,000 p.a 1 1 - -

£100,001 to £105,000 p.a. 1 1 - -

£145,001 to £150,000 p.a. - 2 - -
£155,001 to £160,000 p.a. 1 - - -

6 5 5 4

Key management 
personnel Other staff
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The CEO is the Accounting Officer and his pay and remuneration details are as follows: 

 
 
** The salary for the Accounting Officer includes a payment of £17,958 towards the removal of a long-
term incentive plan associated with a previous role.  No bonus payments were made to the 
Accounting Officer for the current year (2018/19). 

In 2018/19, the Principal and CEO’s total remuneration as a multiple of the median of all 
staff remuneration was 5.70. 

In 2018/19, the Principal and CEO’s basic salary as a multiple of the median of all staff 
remuneration was 4.76. 

Pension contributions in respect of the Accounting Officer and senior post-holders relate to 
contributions to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme or the Local Government Pension Scheme 
and are available as for other employees. 

The members of the Corporation other than the Accounting Officer and the staff member did 
not receive any payment from the College other than the reimbursement of travel and 
subsistence expenses incurred in the course of their duties. 

2019 2018 2018

£’000
Accounting 

officer 1 
Accounting 

officer2 
(current) 

£’000 £’000
Salaries ** 158 75 73
Benefits in kind 1 1 1
Severance payments - contractual - 74 -

159 150 74

Pension Contributions 26 13 11
185 163 85
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7 Other operating expenses 

 

Learner Support Fund expenditure is excluded from the above and is shown separately in 
note 20. 

The non-teaching costs of the College (£3,276,000) includes a provision for amount 
outstanding from Plaza Activity Limited of £778,000.  Plaza is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the College.  
 
8 Interest and other finance costs – Group and College 

 
 
 
 
 
  

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Teaching costs 3,386 3,375 4,576 4,576
Non-teaching costs 2,653 3,276 2,340 2,007
Premises costs 2,011 2,000 2,250 2,194
Total 8,050 8,651 9,166 8,777

Other operating expenses include: 2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Auditors’ remuneration:
-       Financial statements audit 32 61
-       Internal audit 33 30

Hire of assets under operating leases 624 603

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans: 209 203 192 178
Pension finance costs (note 18) 148 148 231 231
Total 357 351 423 409
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9 Tangible fixed assets (Group)

 

9 Tangible fixed assets (College)

 

 

Equipment Total

Freehold Long 
leasehold

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2018 42,469 4,165 8,753 55,387
Additions 28 17 488 533
At 31 July 2019 42,497 4,182 9,241 55,920

Depreciation
At 1 August 2018 9,369 2,206 6,097 17,672
Charge for the year 835 186 765 1,786
At 31 July 2019 10,204 2,392 6,862 19,458
Net book value at 31 July 2019 32,293 1,790 2,379 36,462
Net book value at 31 July 2018 33,100 1,959 2,656 37,715

Land and buildings

Equipment Total

Freehold Long 
leasehold

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2018 42,469 4,165 8,469 55,103
Additions 28 16 488 532
At 31 July 2019 42,497 4,181 8,957 55,635

Depreciation
At 1 August 2018 9,369 2,206 5,848 17,423
Charge for the year 835 186 749 1,770
At 31 July 2019 10,204 2,392 6,597 19,193
Net book value at 31 July 2019 32,293 1,789 2,360 36,442
Net book value at 31 July 2018 33,100 1,959 2,621 37,680

Land and buildings
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The transitional rules set out in FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard’ are applicable in 
the UK and the Republic of Ireland.  Accordingly, the base values at the date of transition have 
been retained, including the revaluation as at that date where applicable. 

Equipment inherited from the Local Education Authority at incorporation has been valued by the 
Corporation at estimated cost less estimated depreciation to date to reflect the remaining useful 
life of the equipment. 

Land and buildings with a net book value of £2,578,363 (2017/18: £2,603,644) have been 
funded from Local Education Authority sources.  Should these assets be sold, the College 
would either have to surrender the sale proceeds to the ESFA or use them in accordance 
with the financial memorandum with the funding agencies.  If inherited land and buildings 
had not been valued they would have been included at nil value and have a current net book 
value of zero. 

10 Non-current investments 

The College’s subsidiary undertakings are as follows: 

Subsidiary Company Country of 
Incorporation 

Principal Activity Holding 

Hart Learning and Development Ltd  
(formerly Protech Training Services 
Limited) 
 

England and Wales Provision of training 100% 

Plaza Activity Limited England and Wales Commercial Gym 100% 
 

The College has a 32% shareholding in Hertvec LLC.  The value of the investment was fully 
impaired in 2014/15. 

  

College College
2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Investments in subsidiary companies 91 91
91 91
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11 Trade and other receivables 

 

12 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 

13 Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 

 

 

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amouns falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 304 300 382 382
Subsidiary undertakings - 246 - 841
Prepayments and accrued income 834 819 708 710
Other debtors 34 34 - -
Total 1,172 1,399 1,090 1,933

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans and overdrafts (note 14) 710 710 1,849 1,849
Obligations under finances leases 5 - 50 -
Trade payables 425 416 370 368
Other taxation and social security 421 293 435 310
Accruals 1,406 1,780 3,013 3,360
Recurrent grants repayable (net) 200 200 153 153
Deferred income - government capital grants 220 220 220 220
Other creditors 5 5 19 19
Total 3,392 3,624 6,109 6,279

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans (note 14) 10,496 10,496 5,496 5,496
Deferred income - government capital grants 3,083 3,083 3,305 3,305
Total 13,579 13,579 8,801 8,801

Deferred income comprises the amount of capital grants received from Government applicable
to future periods. The deferred grants comprise:

SFA Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2018 2,822 703 3,525
Released to profit and loss (97) (125) (222)
At 31 July 2019 2,725 578 3,303
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14 Maturity of debt 

 

The college has two outstanding loans with Lloyds Bank. One matures on 31 March 2023 
and the second loan matures on 31 March 2029.  Both attract a variable interest rate of 
2.708%.  In addition, the college has an overdraft facility with Lloyds Bank up to £1.3m 
should it wish to avail of this facility. 

Bank Loans are repayable over 10 year period in quarterly instalments.  A further £5.5m 
loan from ESFA is repayable in 2021. The ESFA loan attracts an interest rate of 1.67%.  All 
of the borrowing is secured on portion of freehold buildings of the College. 

15 Provisions 

 

16 Capital and other commitments 

 

 

  

Bank loans and Overdrafts
Bank loans and overdrafts are repayable as follows:

2019 2019 2018 2018
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

In one year or less 710 710 1,849 1,849
Between one and two years 6,420 6,420 920 920
Between two and five years 2,484 2,484 2,760 2,760
In five years or more 1,592 1,592 1,816 1,816
Total 11,206 11,206 7,345 7,345

2019
£'000

At 1 August 2018 (5,080)
Service cost (973)
Employer contributions 533
Net interest (148)
Changes in actuarial assumptions (3,078)
At 31 July 2019 (8,746)

Local Government Pension Scheme. Further details are given in note 18.
Defined benefit obligations relate to the liabilities under the College's membership of the

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Commitments contracted for at 31 July 195 54
195 54

Group and College
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17 Lease obligations 

 

18 Defined benefit obligations 

The College’s employees belong to two principal post-employment benefit plans: the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by 
Hertfordshire County Council. Both are multi-employer defined-benefit plans. 

  Group and College 
  2019   2018 

  £’000   £’000 
Total pension cost for the year      

      
Teachers' Pension Scheme: contributions paid  614   583 
NEST pension Scheme contributions  60   31 
Local Government Pension Scheme:      
     - Contributions paid  533   709 
     - Additional service cost (FRS102 (28))  440   650 
     - Interest charge in respect of defined benefit obligations net of 
interest income on plan assets 

 148  
 

231 

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  1,795   2,204 
      

Total Pension Cost for Year within staff costs  1,647   1,973 
 

The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified 
actuaries. The latest formal actuarial valuation of the TPS was 31 March 2016 and of the 
LGPS was as at 31 March 2016. 

Contributions amounting to £129,000 (2017/18: £154,000) were payable to the schemes at 
31 July and are included within creditors. 

  

At 31 July the College had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Future minimum lease payments due

Land and buildings
Not later than one year        578            582 
Later than one year and not later than five years      2,227          2,126 
Later than five years      1,483          1,292 

     4,288          4,000 

Other
Not later than one year 8 21
Later than one year and not later than five years - 83

8 104

Group and College
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Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, 
governed by the Teachers Pensions Regulations 2014.  These regulations apply to teachers 
in schools, colleges and other educational establishments, including academies, in England 
and Wales that are maintained by local authorities.  In addition, teachers in many 
independent and voluntary-aided schools and teachers and lecturers in some 
establishments of further and higher education may be eligible for membership.  
Membership is automatic for full-time teachers and lecturers and, from 1 January 2007, 
automatic too for teachers and lecturers in part-time employment following appointment or a 
change of contract.  Teachers and lecturers are able to opt out of the TPS. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a ’pay as you go‘ basis – these 
contributions, along with those made by employers, are credited to the Exchequer under 
arrangements governed by the above Act. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid 
by public funds provided by Parliament. 

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a multi-employer pension plan. 
The College is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the plan. 

Accordingly, the College has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has 
accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution plan. The 
College has set out above the information available on the plan and the implications for the 
College in terms of the anticipated contribution rates. 

The valuation of the TPS is carried out in line with regulations made under the Public 
Service Pension Act 2013. Valuations credit the teachers’ pension account with a real rate of 
return assuming funds are invested in notional investments that produce that real rate of 
return. 

The latest actuarial review of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The valuation 
report was published by the Department for Education (the Department in April 2019.  The 
valuation reported total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated 
cost of future benefits) for service to the effective date of £218.1 billion, and notional assets 
(estimated future contributions together with the notional investments held at the valuation 
date) of £196.1 billion giving a notional past service deficit of £22 billion. 

As a result of the valuation, new employer contribution rates were set at 23.68% of 
pensionable pay from September 2019 onwards (compared to 16.48% during 2018/9. DfE 
has agreed to pay a teacher pension employer contribution grant to cover the additional 
costs during the 2019-20 academic year. 

A full copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation can be found on the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme website. 

The pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £614,710 (2016: £583,000) 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit plan, with the assets held in separate funds 
administered by Hertfordshire County Council.  The total contributions made for the year 
ended 31 July 2019 were £702,000, of which employer’s contributions totalled £533,000 and 
employees’ contributions totalled £169,000.  The agreed contribution rates for future years 
are 20.5% for employers and range from 5.5% to 12.5% for employees, depending on 
Pensionable pay. 
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31-Jul-19 31-Jul-18

Rate of increase in salaries 2.5% 2.5%
Future pensions increases 2.4% 2.4%
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 2.1% 2.8%
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.4% 2.4%
Commutation of pensions to lump sums:
     - pre April 2008 service 50% 50%
     - post April 2008 75% 75%

31-Jul-19 31-Jul-18
Years Years

Retiring today
Males 21.5 22.5
Females 23.7 24.9
Future pensioners
Males 22.3 24.1
Females 25.0 26.7

Fair value 
at               

31-Jul-19

Fair value 
at               

31-Jul-18
£’000 £’000

Equities 51% 18,752 52% 17,793
Bonds 37% 13,605 36% 12,318
Property 8% 2,942 8% 2,737
Cash 4% 1,470 4% 1,370

Share of total fair value of plan assets 36,769 34,218

Actual return on plan assets 1,670 2,202

The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is as follows:

2019 2018
£’000 £’000

Fair value of plan assets 36,769 34,218
Present value of plan liabilities (45,515) (39,298)
Net pensions liability (note 15) (8,746) (5,080)

The College's share of assets in the scheme at the Balance Sheet date were:-

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality 
rates.  The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:
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19 Related party transactions 

 

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of Governors during the year was £77 (2018: NIL).  
No Governor has received any remuneration or waived payments from the college or its 
subsidiaries during the year. (2018: NIL) 

 

2019 2018
£'000 £'000

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations

Defined benefit obligations at start of period 39,298   39,153   
Current service cost 954       1,359     
Interest cost 1,104     1,069     
Contributions by Scheme participants 169       234       
Changes in financial assumptions 4,748 (1,827)
Estimated benefits paid (777) (690)
Past service cost 19         -        
Defined benefit obligations at end of period 45,515    39,298    

Changes in fair vlaue of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 34,218   30,925   
Interest on plan assets 956       838       
Return on plan assets 1,670     2,202     
Employee contributions 169       234       
Employer contributions 533       709       
Estimated benefits paid (777) (690)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 36,769   34,218   

Asset and Liability Reconciliation

Related party Purchases Sales

Amounts 
owing        

(to)/from 
College

£’000 £’000 £’000
Hart Learning & Development Ltd - subsidiary of College         5,273 - 246
Plaza Activity Limited - subsidiary of College - - 778
Hart Schools Trust Limited (Sponsored by the College) 1 235 7
At 31 July 2019 1 235 1,031
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20 Amounts disbursed as agent 

 

21 Events after the reporting period 

At 31 October 2019, the lease on Plaza Activity Limited was returned to Stevenage Borough 
Council.  Plaza Activity Limited has stopped trading and will be wound up in 2019/20.  

In October 2019, the performance bonds for Hertvec LLC were cancelled removing a 
significant legacy risk from the college.  We received a distribution from Hertvec LLC during 
September 2019 which will be recognised in the 2019/20 financial statements.  This 
distribution related to 60% of our shareholder balance from 2013/14. 

2019 2018
£'000 £'000

Balance unspent carried over from 31/7/2018 75 115
Funding body grants - bursary support received 705 639
Funding body grants - residential bursaries 780 754

Disbursed to students
   Hardship and bursary 345 428
   Childcare 148 221
Administration costs 22 30
Balance unspent as at 31 July, included in creditors 265 75

Funding body grants are available solely for students. In the majority of instances, the College only 
acts as a paying agent.  In these circumstances, the grants and related disbursements are therefore 
excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income and expenditure




